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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

 

To the Shareholder 

Binghatti Holding Limited  

Dubai 

United Arab Emirates 

 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Binghatti Holding Limited 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2025, and the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2025, and its consolidated financial 

performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with IFRS Accounting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

Basis for Opinion  

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).  Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 

accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)  (the “IESBA Code”) 

together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholder of Binghatti Holding Limited (continued) 

 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

 

Revenue recognition on sale of development properties 

Key Audit Matter How our Audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

The Company recognized revenue from the sale 

of development properties, excluding land 

sales, during the year of AED 11,398 million. 

 

Revenue recognition on the sale of development 

properties requires management to apply 

significant judgments and make significant 

estimates.  

 

The Group assesses for each of its contracts 

with customers for sale of development 

properties, whether to recognise revenue over 

time or at a point in time based on a 

consideration of whether the Group has created 

a real estate asset with no alternative use and 

whether the Group has an enforceable right to 

payment for performance completed at any time 

during the life of the contract. All revenue from 

development sales, excluding sales of land, are 

recognized over the period that the underlying 

asset is constructed. 

 

Where revenue is recognised over time, the 

Group estimates total development costs 

required to meet performance obligations under 

the contract and recognises proportionate 

revenue to the extent of satisfaction of 

performance obligations as at the end of the 

reporting period. 

 

Revenue recognition from the sale of 

development properties was identified as a key 

audit matter due to the following: 

 

• The quantitative significance of the amount 

to the consolidated financial statements; 

• The requirement of ISAs to presume an 

inherent risk of material misstatement of 

revenue due to fraud; 

• The level of judgements applied and 

estimates made; and 

• The level of audit effort required. 

 

Refer to note 2.6 in the consolidated financial 

statements for details about judgments applied 

and estimates made in determining the amount 

of revenue to be recognised and note 3 for 

further details about revenue recognised during 

the year. 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to, 

the following: 

 

We obtained an understanding of the process 

implemented by the Group for revenue recognition 

and measurement in respect of the sale of development 

properties and identified the key controls in this 

process. 

 

We assessed the controls to determine if they were 

appropriately designed and tested these controls to 

determine if they were operating effectively 

throughout the year.. 
 

We performed the following audit procedures on a 

sample of contracts; 
 

- assessed management’s determination of whether 

revenue should be recognised over time or at a 

point in time by making reference to the terms and 

conditions specified in the contracts.  

 

- determined to what extent the resultant 

performance obligations had been satisfied at the 

reporting date through the inspection of 

supporting documentation 

 

- recalculated the revenue recognized during the 

year and compare it with the amount recognized 

during the year; and 

 

- reviewed and challenged the basis of estimation 

used by management for assessing the total cost to 

complete for the respective real estate projects that 

were recognized over a period of time. 
 

For cost recognized to date, we performed tests on a 

sample basis for significant cost components. This 

involved verifying the existence and accuracy of the 

costs by comparing them to relevant supporting 

documentation, for example supplier invoices.  

 

We tested a sample of manual journal entries posted to 

revenue accounts to identify any unusual or irregular 

transactions processed as part of revenue. 

 

We assessed the disclosure in the consolidated 

financial statements relating to this area against the 

requirements of IFRS Accounting Standards. 

  



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholder of Binghatti Holding Limited (continued) 

 

Other Matter 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 were audited by 

another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 15 February 2025. 
 

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements  
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and their preparation in 

compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Law pursuant to DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018, 

and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.  

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.   



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Shareholder of Binghatti Holding Limited (continued) 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the 

audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 

a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.   

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

Further, we report that the consolidated financial statements comply, in all material aspects, with the 

applicable provisions of the Companies Law pursuant to DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018. 

 

Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) 

 

 

 

 

29 January 2026 

Dubai  

United Arab Emirates 

 



Binghatti Holding Limited and its Subsidiaries 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  
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For the year ended 31 December 2025 
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 Notes 2025 2024 

  AED AED 

    

Revenue from contracts with customers 3 12,425,353,701  6,345,161,650 

    

Cost of sales 4 (6,998,438,633) (3,479,519,723) 

    

GROSS PROFIT  5,426,915,068 2,865,641,927 

    

Gain on bargain purchase 5 -  41,336,169 

    

Fair value gain on financial investments 14 46,946,344 -  

    

Other income 6 56,950,180 47,967,585 

    

Finance income 7 110,830,076 62,925,519 

    

Selling, general and administrative expenses 8 (1,265,628,362) (627,569,445) 

    

Finance costs 9 (529,972,196) (380,170,178) 

    

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FOR THE YEAR  3,846,041,110 2,010,131,577 

    

Income tax expense 31 (271,054,497) (182,105,619) 

    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  3,574,986,613 1,828,025,958 

    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to    

  profit or loss in subsequent periods:    

    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (413,155) 40,294 

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  3,574,573,458 1,828,066,252 

    

 

 



Binghatti Holding Limited and its Subsidiaries 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2025 

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Notes 2025 2024 

  AED AED 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 10 425,046,241 474,962,552 

Investment property  11 274,899,200 274,899,200 

Intangible assets 12 55,572,839 17,742,631 

Right of use assets 13 217,137,240 86,325,089 

Financial investments  14 1,783,651,727 - 

    

Total non-current assets  2,756,307,247 853,929,472 

    

Current assets    

Development properties 15 7,039,961,303 5,383,598,791 

Inventories 16 121,775,506 41,282,677 

Trade and other receivables 17 5,007,927,844 2,655,864,684 

Due from related parties 26 598,874,315 - 

Wakala deposits 18 - 3,382,647 

Bank balances and cash 19 8,842,818,870  3,765,768,928 

    

Total current assets  21,611,357,838 11,849,897,727 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  24,367,665,085 12,703,827,199 

    

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Equity    

Share capital 20 150,000,000 3,675,000 

Statutory reserve 21 10,012,641 10,012,641 

Retained earnings  6,619,516,346   3,164,860,414 

Foreign currency translation reserve  - 40,294 

    

Total equity  6,779,528,987 3,178,588,349 

    

    

Liabilities    

Non-current liabilities    

Employees’ end of service benefits  22 69,824,936 27,333,254 

Loans and borrowings 23 7,709,296,398 2,357,487,197 

Accounts payable and accruals 24 72,889,371 634,296,940 

Lease liabilities 13 99,174,594 52,347,518 

    

Total non-current liabilities  7,951,185,299 3,071,464,909 

    

 

 





Binghatti Holding Limited and its Subsidiaries 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
As at 31 December 2025 

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Share 

capital 

Retained 

earnings 

Statutory                  

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED 

      

Balance at 1 January 2024 3,675,000 1,336,834,456  10,012,641  -      1,350,522,097 

      

Profit for the year  -      1,828,025,958 -      -      1,828,025,958 

      

Other comprehensive income -      -      -      40,294 40,294 

      

Total comprehensive income for the 

year -      1,828,025,958 -      40,294 1,828,066,252 

      

Balance at 31 December 2024 3,675,000 3,164,860,414 10,012,641 40,294 3,178,588,349 

      

Profit for the year - 3,574,986,613 - - 3,574,986,613 

      

Other comprehensive loss - - - (413,155) (413,155) 

      

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 

for the year - 3,574,986,613 - (413,155) 3,574,573,458 

      

Additional share capital (note 20) 146,325,000 (146,325,000) - - - 

      

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 

(note 27) - 25,994,319 - 372,861 26,367,180 

      

Balance at 31 December 2025 150,000,000 6,619,516,346 10,012,641 - 6,779,528,987 
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 Notes 2025 2024 

  AED AED 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Profit before tax for the year  3,846,041,110 2,010,131,577 

Adjustments for:    

  Depreciation of property and equipment 10 138,237,461 69,648,869 

  Depreciation of right-of-use-assets 13 82,143,875 29,235,078 

  Interest on lease liabilities 9 &13 13,460,570 5,611,321 

  Finance costs excluding interest on lease liabilities 9 516,511,626 374,558,857 

  Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 22 49,220,421 15,287,396 

  Amortisation of intangible assets 12 133,555 421,588 

  Finance income 7 (110,830,076) (62,925,519) 

  Gain on bargain purchase 5 - (41,336,169) 

  Sukuk premium amortisation, net  13,051,315 - 

  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  7,322 - 

  Loss on disposal of intangible assets 

  Fair value gain on financial investments 

14 377,442 

             (46,946,344) 

- 

- 

    

  4,501,408,277 2,400,632,998 

Working capital changes:    

  Development properties  (3,424,761,993) (3,880,734,038) 

  Inventories  (80,492,829) (16,373,806) 

  Trade and other receivables  (2,545,039,639) (1,867,281,378) 

  Accounts payable and accruals  (790,745,457) 1,963,512,037 

  Contract liabilities  3,679,981,156 1,393,366,778 

  Amounts due from related parties  (89,464,336) (9,394,271)  

  Amounts due to a related party  72,441,163 - 

    

Cash flows generated from/(used in) operations  1,323,326,342 (16,271,680)  

  Finance cost paid  (480,666,148) (222,428,798) 

  Employees’ end of service benefits paid 

  Income tax paid 

 (6,706,335) 

 (131,823,433) 

(2,201,232) 

                          - 

    

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities  704,130,426 (240,901,710) 

    

    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (448,596,098) (229,511,407)  

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  2,278,228 - 

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 5 - (11,795,510) 

Purchase of investment property 11 - (68,724,800) 

Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (38,341,205) (16,945,541) 

Movement in restricted escrow account  (3,257,671,191) (1,553,871,013) 

Interest received  110,830,076 62,842,872 

Changes in Wakala Deposits 

Disposal of subsidiaries - net of cash disposed of  

 

 

3,382,647 

 (4,191,372) 

(3,300,000) 

- 

    

Net cash used in investing activities  (3,632,308,915)  (1,821,305,399) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2025 (continued) 
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 Notes 2025 2024 

  AED AED 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 23 6,696,576,233 2,853,306,548 

(Repayments)/proceeds from payable to investors  (33,393,430) 402,209,505 

Repayment of loans and borrowings 23 (1,801,203,920) (569,113,593) 

Repayment of lease liabilities 13 (114,008,488) (35,616,999) 

    

Net cash generated from financing activities  4,747,970,395 2,650,785,461 

    

    

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  1,819,791,906 588,578,352 

    

Net foreign exchange difference  (413,155) 40,294 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  1,538,853,229 950,234,583 

    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 19 3,358,231,980 1,538,853,229 

    

 

Non-cash transactions: 

 

a)   Development properties amounting to AED 1,736,705,383 was transferred to real estate funds classified under 

financial investments, as in-kind contribution of the Group to those funds.  

 

b)   Transfer of property, plant and equipment amounting AED 333,505,902 to development property.  

 

c)   Transfer to share capital from retained earnings amounting to AED 146,325,000. 

 

d)  Accounts payable and accruals amounting AED 180,000,000 payable for power grid against purchase of land 

parcel under development property. 

 

e)  During the year a land under development properties amounting to AED 545,200,000 million was transferred to 

a related party.  

 

f)  In the prior year due to a related party amounting to AED 41,234,880, includes direct purchase of investment 

property by a related party on behalf of the Group.  
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1 BACKGROUND  

 

1.1 Corporate information 

 

Binghatti Holding Limited (“BHL”) (the “Company” or “Parent Company”) is a limited liability company registered 

and incorporated in the Dubai International Financial Centre (“DIFC”). The Parent Company has the status of a 

company limited by shares in and under the laws promulgated by the DIFC. The shares are 100% owned by                             

Dr. Hussain Ghati Ghaib Al Jbori, shareholder of the Company. 

 

The principal activities of the Parent Company are to consolidate the family businesses of the Al Jbori family, create 

an institution through which correct family business governance can be exercised. The address of the Parent 

Company's registered office is Unit L19-04A, Level 19, ICD Brookfield Place, DIFC, Dubai, UAE. 

 

The Parent Company through its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are under common management and control 

of Parent Company. 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of and for the year ended 31 December 2025 comprise of the 

following: 

 

Company Name 

Incorporated  

year 

Place of 

incorporation 

Beneficial 

ownership Principal activity 

  2025 2024 

      

Binghatti Developers FZE 2014 Dubai Silicon Oasis 

Authority 

100% 100% Real Estate Development & 

Management 

      

Binghatti Brands Holding 

Ltd (formerly known as 

Raubi of London Holdings) 

2016 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Holding Company 

      

Binghatti Hospitality 

FZCO 

2017 Dubai Silicon Oasis 

Authority  

100% 100% Catering Services, Facilities 

Management Services and 

Restaurants Management 

      

Advanced Innovative 

Industries FZE (formerly 

known as Binghatti 

Industries FZE) 

2017 Dubai Silicon Oasis 

Authority 

100% 100% Civil Works & Fit Out 

      

Binghatti Investments LLC 2017 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic 

Development 

100% 100% Investment in Commercial 

Enterprise & Management 

      

Granada Europe 

Engineering Construction 

LLC  

2004 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic 

Development 

100% 100% Construction & Engineering 

      

Masaken Luxury Services 

LLC 

2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic 

Development [note (a)] 

- 100% Facilities Management 

Services 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment Limited 

2021 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 2 Limited 

2022 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 
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1 BACKGROUND (continued) 

 

1.1 Corporate information (continued) 

 

Company Name 

Incorporated  

year 

Place of incorporation Beneficial 

ownership 
Principal activity 

  2025 2024  

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 3 Limited 

2022 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 4 Ltd 

2022 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 5 Limited 

2022 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Argenti Properties 

Investments Limited 

2022 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Development 

LLC 

2021 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

100% 100% Real Estate Development 

      

Express Quality Car 

Services LLC 

2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

[note (b)] 

- 100% Car polish, wash and 

cleaning services and 

auto fitting accessories 

      

Binghatti Productions LLC 2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

100% 100% Aerial Photography 

Services 

      

Masaken Luxury Real 

Estate Management LLC 

2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

100% 100% Leasing Property 

brokerage agent, Real 

Estate Management 

supervision services and 

Real Estate buying and 

selling brokerage 

      

Binghatti Hotels 

Management LLC 

2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

100% 100% Hotel Management 

      

Stealth Owner Association 

Management Services LLC 

2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

100% 100% Jointly Owned Property 

Management Service 

      

XBM Building Materials 

LLC (formerly known as 

Binghatti Building 

Materials LLC) 

2022 Dubai Dept. of 

Economic Development 

[note (c)] 

- 100% Building & Construction 

Materials Trading and 

general trading 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 6 Limited 
2023 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Real Estate Development 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 7 Limited 
2023 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Real Estate Development 

      

Binghatti Properties 

Investment 8 Limited 
2023 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Real Estate Development 
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1 BACKGROUND (continued) 

 

1.1 Corporate information (continued) 

 

Company Name Incorporated Place of 

incorporation 

Beneficial 

ownership  
Principal activity 

 year 2025 2024  

      

Masaken Homes LLC 2023 
Dubai Economy 

and Tourism 
100% 100% Vacation homes rentals 

     
 

Masaken Holding Limited 2023 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 

[note (d)] 

- 100% Holding company 

      

AlBaynah Gen. Tr. LLC 

Sole Proprietorship 
2001 

Sharjah Economic 

Development 

Department 

100% 100% General Trading 

      

Binghatti Sukuk SPC 

Limited 
2023 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 

[note (e)] 

100% 100% Qualifying purpose of 

structured Financing  

      

BH Holding 1 Limited 

(formerly Binghatti 

Properties Investments 20 

Limited) 

2024 
Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Holding Company 

      

Binghatti Capital Limited 2024 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% Advising on Financial 

Products, Arranging Deals 

in Investments, Managing a 

collective Investment Fund 

Managing Assets 

      

Binghatti Properties 

 Investments 1 (UK) 

Limited 

2024 London, United 

Kingdom [note (f)] 

- 100% Buying and Selling of own 

real estate 

Other letting and operating 

of own or leased real estate 

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 9 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 10 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 11 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 12 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 13 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 14 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% 

Investment in Real Estate 
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1 BACKGROUND (continued) 

 

1.1 Corporate information (continued) 

 

Company Name Incorporated  Place of  
Beneficial 

ownership  
Principal activity 

 year incorporation 2025 2024  

      

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 15 Limited 
2024 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 
100% 100% 

Investment in Real Estate 

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 16 Limited 
2024 

 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% 

Investment in Real Estate 

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 17 Limited 
2024 

 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% 

Investment in Real Estate 

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 18 Limited 
2024 

 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% 

Investment in Real Estate 

Binghatti Properties  

Investments 19 Limited 
2024 

 

Dubai International 

Financial Center 

100% 100% 

Investment in Real Estate 

      

Binghatti Real Estate 

Consultancy (Shanghai) 

Co., Ltd 

2024 
Shanghai, China 

[note (g)] 
- 100% Real Estate Consulting 

services 

      

Design Craft Decoration 

& Design Implementation 

L.L.C 

2024 
Dubai Economy and 

Tourism [note (h)] 
- 100% 

Fit-out and related 

services, Plumbing & 

Sanitary Installation, 

Carpentry & wood 

Flooring Works, Painting 

Contracting 

      

Advanced Metal Works 

FZE 
2024 

Jabel Ali Free Zone 

[note (i)] 
- 100% 

Building Metal Products 

Manufacturing Metal 

False Ceilings 

Manufacturing Metal 

Doors, Windows Making 

& Fixing Building 

Stainless Steel Products 

Manufacturing Steel 

Fabrication & Welding 

Workshop Lathe 

Workshop Expanded 

Metal Components 

Manufacturing 

      

Binghatti Sukuk 2 SPV 

Limited 

2025 Dubai International 

Financial Center 

[note (e)] 

100% - Qualifying purpose of 

structured Financing  

 

a) Binghatti Holding Limited has transferred all of its shares in Masaken Luxury Services LLC to Masaken 

Holding Limited in 2025. 
 

b) Binghatti Holding Limited has transferred all of its shares in Express Quality Car Services LLC to Masaken 

FM Luxury Services LLC in 2025. 
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1 BACKGROUND (continued) 

 

1.1 Corporate information (continued) 

  

c )  Binghatti Holding Limited has transferred all of its shares in XBM Building Materials LLC  to Advanced 

Innovative Industries FZE in 2025. 

 

d) Binghatti Holding Limited has transferred all of its shares in Masaken Holding Limited to Advanced Innovative 

Industries FZE in 2025. 

  

e) The shares are beneficially held by Maples Fund Services (Middle East) Limited as Trustee Administrator. 

 

f) Binghatti Properties Investments 1 (UK) Limited executed the Share Transfer Agreement between Binghatti 

Holding Limited and Binghatti Holding (Overseas) Limited on 27 November 2025. 

 

g) Binghatti Real Estate Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. executed the Share Transfer Agreement between 

Binghatti Holding Limited and Binghatti Holding (Overseas) Limited on 22 December 2025. 

 

h) Design Craft Decoration & Design Implementation L.L.C was dissolved and deregistered on 04 November  

2025. 

 

i) Binghatti Properties Investments 10 Limited has transferred all of its shares in Advanced Metal Works FZE to 

Advanced Innovative Industries FZE in 2025. 

 

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. except for development 

properties which are measured at lower of cost or net realisable value and financial investments which are measured 

at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 

services. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“AED”) being the 

presentation and functional currency of the Parent Company. The Group has prepared the consolidated financial 

statements on the basis that it will continue as a going concern. 

 

2.2 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the 

applicable provisions of the Companies Law pursuant to DIFC Law No. 5 of 2018.  

 

2.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

 

▪ Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee); 

▪ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

▪ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant 

facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

 

▪ The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 

▪ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

▪ The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 

over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 

of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement other comprehensive 

income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 

parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 

deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.  

 

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 

▪ Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 

▪ Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; 

▪ Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 

▪ Recognises the fair value of the consideration received; 

▪ Recognises the fair value of any investment retained; 

▪ Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 

▪ Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit 

and loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 

related assets or liabilities.  
 

2.4 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS 

 

New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the current period 

 

The following new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, which became effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2025, have been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. Their adoption has not had any 

material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standard Summary 

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in 

Foreign Exchange Rates relating to Lack of 

Exchangeability 

The amendments contain guidance to specify when a currency is 

exchangeable and how to determine the exchange rate when it is 

not. 

 

Other than the above, there are no other significant IFRS Accounting Standards and amendments that were effective 

for the first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 

 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

 

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new 

and revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (continued) 

 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued) 

 

 

 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

  

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures regarding the classification and measurement of financial instruments 

The amendments address matters identified during the post-implementation review 

of the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. 

1 January 2026 

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures regarding purchase power arrangements 

The amendments aim at enabling entities to include information in their financial 

statements that in the IASB’s view more faithfully represents contracts referencing 

nature-dependent electricity. 

1 January 2026 

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 

The pronouncement comprises the following amendments: 

• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards: Hedge accounting by a first-time adopter 

• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosures: Gain or loss on derecognition 

• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosures: Disclosure of deferred 

difference between fair value and transaction price 

• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - Disclosures: Introduction and credit risk 

disclosures 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Lessee derecognition of lease liabilities 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Transaction price 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: Determination of a “de facto 

agent” 

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Cost method 

1 January 2026 

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements 

IFRS 18 includes requirements for all entities applying IFRS for the presentation and 

disclosure of information in financial statements to help ensure they provide relevant 

information that faithfully represents an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income 

and expenses. 

1 January 2027 

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

IFRS 19 specifies the disclosure requirements an eligible subsidiary is permitted to 

apply instead of the disclosure requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. 

1 January 2027 

Amendments to IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

The amendments cover new or amended IFRS Accounting Standards issued between 

28 February 2021 and 1 May 2024 that were not considered when IFRS 19 was first 

issued. 

1 January 2027 

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates relating 

to Translation to a Hyperinflationary Presentation Currency 

The amendments clarify how companies should translate financial statements from 

a non-hyperinflationary currency into a hyperinflationary one. 

1 January 2027 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.4 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (continued) 

 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued) 

 

 

 

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

  

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments 

in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011)  

The amendments relate to the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an 

investor to its associate or joint venture 

Effective date deferred 

indefinitely. Adoption is 

still permitted. 

  

The Group anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations 

and amendments may have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of Group in the period of 

initial application. 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES   

 

Revenue recognition  

a) Revenue from contracts with customers 

 

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step model as set out in IFRS 15; 

 

Step 1. Identify the contracts(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties 

that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must be met. 

Step 2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a contract 

with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer. 

Step 3. Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group 

expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 

amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more 

than one performance obligation, the Group will allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation 

in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 

for satisfying each performance obligation. 

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

 

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is 

met: 

 

1. The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 

Group performs; or 

2. The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or 

enhanced; or 

3. The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Revenue recognition (continued) 

 

a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

 

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised at the point in time 

at which the performance obligations is satisfied. When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering 

the promised goods or services it creates a contract asset based on the amount of consideration earned by the 

performance. Where the amount of considerations received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue 

recognised this gives rise to a contract liability. 

 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually 

defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assess its revenue arrangements against specific 

criteria to determine if it is acting a principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as principal in all of 

its revenue arrangements. Revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent that it is 

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured 

reliably. 

 

Sale of property 

Revenue from construction of residential properties is recognised over time on a cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on 

the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs. The 

Group consider that this input method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of 

these performance obligations under IFRS 15.  

 

The Group assesses each of its contracts with customers to determine whether performance obligations are satisfied 

over time or at a point in time in order to determine the appropriate method of recognising revenue. The Group has 

assessed that based on the agreements entered into with customers and the provisions of relevant laws and regulations, 

where contracts are entered to provide real estate assets to customer, the Group does not create an asset with an 

alternative use to the Group and has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. In these 

circumstances, the Group recognises revenue over time. Where this is not the case, revenue is recognised at a point 

in time. 

 

In cases where the Group determines that performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is 

recognised when control over the asset that is the subject of the contract is transferred to the customer. In the case of 

contracts to sell real estate assets, this is generally when the consideration for the properties has been substantially 

received and there are no impediments to handing over the properties to the customer. 

 

Sale of goods (food and beverage from restaurant and coffee shops) 

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when the control of the goods is transferred to the 

customer, generally on delivery of the goods to the customer. Transactions are settled by cash, or in case of corporate, 

within the credit term of 90 days.  

 

The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to 

which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated (e.g., warranties). In determining the transaction price 

for the sale, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of significant financing 

components, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any). The Group concluded that 

there was no other separate performance obligation. 

 

Rental income   

Rental income arising from operating leases on real estate property investments is accounted for on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Revenue recognition (continued) 

 

a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

 

Service income 

Revenue from rendering of services are recognised over the time upon provision of such services and the Group has 

persuasive evidence that the customer has accepted such services, and generally include income for the annual 

maintenance services. 

 

Brokerage commission 

Revenue from brokerage services is recognized as income at a point in time, upon the completion of the underlying 

property sale transaction. This occurs when control of the brokerage service has been transferred to the customer, 

which is when the related property sale is executed and we have a present right to payment for our service.  

 

b) Contract balances 

Contract assets 

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services because the receipt 

of consideration is conditional on successful completion of the performance obligation. Upon completion and 

acceptance by the customer, the amount recognised as contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables. 

 

Trade receivables  

A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the customer (i.e., only the 

passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial 

assets in section Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement. 

 

Contract liabilities 

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received 

consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the 

Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made, or the 

payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under 

the contract. 

  

Taxation 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax Income tax expense comprises 

current and deferred tax and is calculated in accordance with the income tax laws. 

 

Current tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 

taxation authorities. t is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

  

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of 

comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 

in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities are 

recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

 

• When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

• In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associate, and interests 

in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Taxation (continued) 

 

Deferred tax (continued) 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits 

and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

 

• When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 

the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 

become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 

the reporting date. 

 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items 

are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that 

date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is either 

treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement 

period or recognised in profit or loss.  

 

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set 

off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income 

taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend 

either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to 

be settled or recovered. 

 

Value-added tax (VAT) 

Expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT, except: 

 

• When the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 

which case, the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, 

as applicable; and/or 

• When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included. 

 

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 

payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.  
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment, except buildings is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment and borrowing 

costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant 

and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with 

specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is 

recognised in the carrying amount of the property and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are 

satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income as incurred.  The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the asset after its use is 

included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.  

 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual 

values using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, and is recognised in profit or loss.  

The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative years are as follows: 

 

Building 25 years 

Furniture 3 to 4 years 

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 2 to 4 years 

Crockery items 2 years 

Vehicles 4 to 8 years 

Leasehold improvements 4 years or lease term whichever is shorter 

 

Land and capital work-in-progress in not depreciated. 

 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future benefits are expected from 

its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income for the year in which the asset is derecognised. 

 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and 

adjusted prospectively if appropriate. 

 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is 

reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.  Changes in the expected 

useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted 

for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.  

 

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-

generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life 

is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change 

in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised. 

 

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is, as follows: 

 

 Patents License Plates 

Useful lives Finite (10 years) Indefinite 

Amortisation method used Amortised on a straight-line basis 

over the period of the patent 

No amortisation 

Internally generated or acquired Acquired Acquired 

 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing each 

product to its present location and condition, as determined on a weight average basis. 

 

Finished goods and work in progress includes cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 

overheads based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs. 

 

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on completion 

and disposal. 

 

Leases 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 

a) Group as a lessee 

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 

representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

 

Right-of-use assets  

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 

available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 

and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 

liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 

any lease incentives received. Right-of-use asset are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 

term and the estimated useful life of the asset, as follows:  

 

Restaurants and cafes 2 - 3 years 

Lease buildings 3 - 4 years 

Factory building and lands 10 - 30 years 

 

If ownership of the leased assets is transferred to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 

of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

 

The right-of-use asset is also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section Impairment of non-

financial assets. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Leases (continued) 

 

a) Group as a lessee (continued) 

 

Lease liabilities  

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 

payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 

payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 

expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 

option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 

lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.   

 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred 

to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the 

lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 

change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in 

an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the 

underlying asset.  

 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a 

lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies 

the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. 

 

b) Group as a lessor 

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 

are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term 

and is included in revenue in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over 

the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which 

they are earned.  

 

Investment properties 

Properties held for rental income or for capital appreciation purposes or both are classified as investment properties. 

The Group has adopted the cost model for accounting for its investment properties. Accordingly, investment 

properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 

properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Land is not depreciated. 

 

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains 

control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their 

disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit 

or loss in the period of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the 

derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the 

transaction price in IFRS 15. 

 

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment 

property to owner-occupied property or development properties, the net book value of the investment property at the 

date of transfer become the cost of the owner-occupied property/development properties on the date of the transfer. 

  



Binghatti Holding Limited and its Subsidiaries 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2025 (continued) 

 

25 

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Development properties 

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for rental or 

capital appreciation, is held as development properties and is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value 

(NRV). Principally, this is residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell before, or on completion 

of, development.  

 

Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present location and condition includes:   

 

▪ Freehold and leasehold rights for land; 

▪ Amounts paid to contractors for construction; and 

▪ Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, construction overheads 

and other related costs. 

 

The carrying amount of development property recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss is determined 

with reference to the directly attributable costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any other related 

costs based on the relative size of the property sold. 

 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at the 

reporting date and discounted for the time value of money if material, less costs to completion and the estimated costs 

of sale. The cost of development properties recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on sale is 

determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific 

costs based on the relative size of the property sold. The management reviews the carrying values of the development 

properties on an annual basis. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset's 

recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair 

value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 

cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount 

of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

recoverable amount.  

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 

determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated 

by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded entities or other available fair value indicators. 

 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared 

separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets 

and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is 

calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. 

 

Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in those expense categories 

consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for a property previously revalued where the revaluation 

was taken to the other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive 

income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

 

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or 

CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 

the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 

reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 31 December at the CGU level, 

as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

 

Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 

instrument of another entity. 

 

i. Financial assets  

Initial recognition and measurement 

The financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 

through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. 

 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 

characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables and bank 

balance that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 

expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 

value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component 

or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under 

IFRS 15. Refer to the accounting policy in Revenue from contracts with customers. 

 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to 

give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding.  

This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 

 

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 

generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash 

flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within 

a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial 

assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the objective of both 

holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. 

 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 

convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 

measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual 

cash flows and to sell financial assets. 

 

The Group’s financial assets include bank balances, trade and other receivables and wakala deposits. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

▪ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

▪ Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

▪ Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instruments)  

▪ Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)  

 

The Group does not have any financial assets subsequently measured at fair value.  
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

i. Financial assets (continued) 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)  

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the 

following conditions are met:  

 

▪ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and  

▪ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject 

to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised costs includes bank balances, trade and other receivables and wakala 

deposit. 

 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

primarily derecognised when: 

 

▪ The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

▪ The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 

the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and 

either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has 

neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 

of the asset. 

 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 

arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset 

is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises 

an associated liability.  The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 

and obligations that the Group has retained. 

 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset, is measured at the lower of the 

original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to 

repay. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 

through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 

the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an 

approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 

sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integrated to the contractual terms. 

 

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible 

within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 

remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

i. Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs based on 

lifetime expected credit losses. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical 

credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

The expected credit losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are past due. However, in certain cases, 

the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the 

Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 

enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 

the contractual cash flows. 

 

ii Financial liabilities 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 

of directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

The Group’s financial liabilities include loans and borrowings, bank overdraft, accounts payables, accruals, lease 

liabilities and due to related parties. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:  

 

a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

b) Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings) 

 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described above. 

 

The Group does not have any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as of the reporting date. 

 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)  

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 

derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 

any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is 

included as finance costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

This category applies to loans and borrowings, accounts payables and accruals, due to related parties and lease 

liabilities. 

 

Derecognition  

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 

the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 

derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

iii) Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 

financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there 

is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 

Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 

the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 

a) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a 

liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.  

 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would 

use the asset in its highest and best use.   

 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 

available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs.  

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 

the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable 

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

Unobservable 

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 

the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-

term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are held for the purpose of meeting short-term 

cash commitments and are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value. 

 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and 

short-term deposit as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any. 

 

Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless the 

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognised 

in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Employees’ end of service benefits 

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees.  The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the 

employees’ final salary, length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period.  The expected costs 

of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision 

to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain.  

 

The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss net of any 

reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 

rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the 

provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 

Warranty provisions  

The Group provides warranties for general repairs of defects that existed at the time of sale, as required by law. 

Provisions related to these assurance-type warranties are recognised when the product is sold, or the service is 

provided to the customer. Initial recognition is based on historical experience. The estimate of warranty-related costs 

is revised annually. 

 

Events after the reporting period  

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about 

conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects the amounts 

that it recognises in its consolidated financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its 

consolidated financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures 

that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the 

Group will not change the amounts recognised in its consolidated financial statements, but will disclose the nature of 

the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if 

applicable.   

 

Business combinations and goodwill  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 

aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 

assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.   

 

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets include an input 

and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.  The acquired process 

is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired include 

an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it significantly 

contributes to the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced 

without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.  

 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 

conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 

acquiree.  

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 

Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 

equity. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Business combinations and goodwill (continued) 

Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 

9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured 

at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.  

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and  the 

amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired 

and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 

transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 

assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 

reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 

transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  

 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 

Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets 

or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.   

 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation 

when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 

relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 

Foreign currencies 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Dirham, which is also the parent company’s functional 

currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements 

of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on 

disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from 

using this method. 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency 

spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception 

of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These 

are recognised in OCI until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to 

profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recognised 

in OCI. 

 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 

are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on 

translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on 

the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised 

in OCI, or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively). 

 

Deferred sales commission  

The Group pays sales commission to its employees and agents for contracts that they obtain to sell certain units of 

property and capitalises the incremental costs of obtaining a contract that meet the criteria in IFRS 15. These costs 

are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period that the property is transferred (over time). Capitalised costs to 

obtain such contracts are presented under current asset in the consolidated statement of financial position and its 

amortisation is included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.5 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Deferred sales commission (continued) 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether the carrying amount exceeds the remaining amount of 

consideration that the entity expects to receive in exchange for the residential development less the costs that relate 

directly to completing the development and that have not been recognised as expenses.  

 

Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-current 

classification. An asset as current when it is: 

 

▪ Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; 

▪ Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

▪ Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

▪ Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period. 

 

All other assets are classified as non-current.  

 

A liability is current when: 

 

▪ It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; 

▪ It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

▪ It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

▪ There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period. 

 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

 

Share capital 

Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition 

of a financial liability or financial asset. The Group’s ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments. 

 

Disposal of subsidiaries 

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary to a company that is under the same control as the Group, the gain or 

loss on disposal is recognised directly in equity as this is considered as a common control transaction. The gain or 

loss is calculated as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of the net assets disposed off and the 

consideration received, adjusted for any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary being disposed off are reclassified to retained earnings as part of 

gain or loss on disposal. 

 

2.6 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that may affect the reported amount of financial assets and liabilities, revenues, expenses, disclosure of contingent 

liabilities and the resultant provisions and fair values. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about 

several factors and actual results may differ from reported amounts. 

 

Judgements  

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

 

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – The Group as lessee 

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by 

an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate 

the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.6 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 

 

Judgements (continued) 

 

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – The Group as lessee (continued) 

 

The Group has lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in 

evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That 

is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. 

After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in 

circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to 

terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset). 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers  

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of 

revenue from contracts with customers: 

 

a) Determination of performance obligations  

With respect to the sale of property, the Group concluded the goods and services transferred in each contract constitute 

a single performance obligation. In particular, the promised goods and services in contracts for the sale of property 

under development mainly include design work, procurement of materials and development of the property. 

Generally, the Group is responsible for all of these goods and services and the overall management of the project. 

Although these goods and services are capable of being distinct, the Group accounts for them as a single performance 

obligation because they are not distinct in the context of the contract. The Group uses those goods and services as 

inputs and provides a significant service of integrating them into a combined output, i.e., the completed property for 

which the customer has contracted. 

 

b) Consideration of significant financing component in a contract 

For some contracts involving the sale of property, the Group is entitled to receive an initial deposit. The Group 

concluded that this is not considered a significant financing component because it is for reasons other than the 

provision of financing to the Group. The initial deposits are used to protect the Group from the other party failing to 

adequately complete some or all of its obligations under the contract where customers do not have an established 

credit history or have a history of late payments. 

 

c) Determining the timing of revenue recognition on the sale of development property  

The Group has evaluated the timing of revenue recognition on the sale of development property based on a careful 

analysis of the rights and obligations under the terms of the contract and advice from the Group’s internal legal 

counsel. The Group has generally concluded that based on factors contained in the contracts for the sale of property 

in that the control of a multi-unit property is transferred to the customer over time because:  

 

▪ The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or 

enhanced. That is, the Group has considered various factors that indicate that the customer controls the part 

constructed property as it is being constructed, e.g., the fact that the customer is able to pledge the property under 

development while it is being constructed (rather than the future right to the completed properties), and the 

customer’s ability to change any specification of the property as it is being constructed or to another entity. 

However, none of the factors is determinative and therefore, the Group has carefully weighed all factors and used 

judgement to determine that it meets this over-time criterion.  

 

▪ The Group’s performance does not create an asset with alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. It has considered the factors that indicate that it 

is restricted (contractually or practically) from readily directing the property under development for another use 

during its development. In addition, the Group is, at all times, entitled to an amount that at least compensates it 

for performances for performance completed to date (usually costs incurred to date plus a reasonable profit 

margin). In making this determination, the Group has carefully considered the contractual terms as well as any 

legislation or legal precedent that could supplement or override those contractual terms. 

 

The Group has determined that the input method is the best method for measuring progress for these contracts because 

there is a direct relationship between the costs incurred by the Group and the transfer of goods and services to the 

customer. 



Binghatti Holding Limited and its Subsidiaries 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2025 (continued) 

 

34 

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.6 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 

 

Judgements (continued) 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

 

d) Consideration of warranties  

The Group typically provides warranties for general repairs of defects that existed at the time of sale, as required by 

law. These assurance-type warranties are accounted for as warranty provisions. Contracts for the sale of property 

contain certain warranties covering a period of up to one year after completion of the property, such as the property 

meeting specific operational performance requirements (e.g., insulation, energy efficiency, etc.). The Group assessed 

that these conditions represent ‘assurance-type’ warranties that are legally required to be provided as quality 

guarantees and are therefore accounted for under IAS 37. 

 

Classification of properties 

In the process of classifying properties, management has made various judgments. Judgment is needed to determine 

whether a property qualifies as an investment property, property, plant and equipment or development property. The 

Group develops criteria so that it can exercise that judgment consistently in accordance with the definitions of 

investment property, property, plant and equipment and development property. In making its judgment, management 

considered the detailed criteria and related guidance for the classification of properties as set out in IAS 40, IAS 16 

and IAS 2, and in particular, the intended usage of property as determined by the management.  

 

Accounting for Financial investments  

The Group holds an investment interests in certain funds (refer Note 14). However, based on an assessment of the 

relevant facts and circumstances in accordance with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, management has 

concluded that the Group does not control these funds. 

 

Control under IFRS 10 requires (i) power over the relevant activities of the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable 

returns from involvement with the investee, and (iii) the ability to use power to affect those returns. Although the 

Group has a majority ownership interest, the Group does not have substantive rights to direct the relevant activities 

of the funds. Decision-making authority over key financial and operating activities resides with the fund manager. 

 

As a result, the Group does not meet the definition of control and therefore does not consolidate these funds in its 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

The investment is accounted for as a financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and is measured 

at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

Estimates and assumptions  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 

when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 

developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of 

the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

2.6 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 

 

Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

Impairment of inventories 

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate 

is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an 

individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed 

collectively and a provision is applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based 

on historical selling prices.  

 

At the reporting date, gross inventories amounted to AED 121.8 million (2024: AED 41.3 million) and the provisions 

for slow-moving inventories amounted to Nil (2024: Nil) (note 16). Any difference between the amounts actually 

realised in a future period and the amounts expected, will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and 

loss in that year. 

 

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets 

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and other receivables, contract assets and 

due from related parties. In determining whether the ECL provisions should be recognised in the statement of 

consolidated comprehensive income, the Group uses provision matrix to measure the ECLs of due from a related 

party and trade and other receivables from individual customers.  

 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the 

matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast 

economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an 

increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed 

default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 

 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs 

is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic 

conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be 

representative of customer’s actual default in the future. Refer to note 29 for detail information about the ECLs. 

 

Useful lives and depreciation of property, plant and equipment  

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property,plant and equipment for calculating 

depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and tear.  

Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future depreciation charge would be adjusted 

where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates. 

 

Management has not considered any residual value as it is deemed to be immaterial. 

 

Estimation of net realisable value for development property  

At year end, the Group holds development property with a carrying value of AED 7,040 million (2024: AED 5,384 

million). Development property is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV). NRV for completed 

development property is assessed by reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is 

determined by the Group, based on comparable transactions identified by the Group for property in the same 

geographical market serving the same real estate segment. NRV in respect of development property under 

development is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for similar completed property, less 

estimated costs to complete the development and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, taking into account 

the time value of money, if material. 
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.6 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 
 

Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

Measurement of progress when revenue is recognised over time  

For those contracts involving the sale of property under development that meet the overtime criteria of revenue 

recognition, the Group’s performance is measured using an input method, by reference to the inputs towards satisfying 

the performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to satisfy the performance obligation, i.e., the 

completion of the property. The Group generally uses the costs incurred method as a measure of progress for its 

contracts because it best depicts the Group’s performance. Under this method of measuring progress, the extent of 

progress towards completion is measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at 

completion of the performance obligation. When costs are incurred, but do not contribute to the progress in satisfying 

the performance obligation (such as unexpected amounts of wasted materials, labour or other resources), the Group 

excludes the effect of those costs. Also, the Group adjusts the input method for any cost incurred that are not 

proportionate to the Group’s progress in satisfying the performance obligation. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. 

The non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be 

recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows 

from the asset or cash-generating unit and chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 

those cash flows. 

 

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing 

rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.  
 

The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar 

security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 

environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no 

observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. 
 

The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) which received from bank and 

is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (where applicable). 

 

3 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
 

3.1 Disaggregated revenue information 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Sale of development properties * 12,083,180,354 6,290,659,411 

Sale of food and beverages from restaurants 34,519,554 36,184,312 

Revenue from services 307,653,793 17,078,441 

Sale of goods - 1,239,486 

   

 12,425,353,701 6,345,161,650 

   

 

* This includes land sale of AED 685 million recognized during the year ended 31 December 2025. 
 

Period of recognition   

Revenue recognised at a point in time 2,596,424,937 37,423,798 

Revenue recognised over time 9,828,928,764 6,307,737,852 

   

 12,425,353,701 6,345,161,650 

   

   

Geographical markets    

United Arab Emirates 12,425,353,701 6,345,161,650 
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3 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued) 

 

3.2 Contract balances 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Trade receivables (note 17) 2,747,775,509 1,765,195,724 

Contract assets (note 17) 582,550,240 239,509,766 

Deferred sales commission (note 17) 786,647,416 243,593,939 

Contract liabilities (note 25) 6,270,721,309 2,590,740,153 

   

 

The aggregate amount of the sale price allocated to the performance obligations of the Group that are 

unsatisfied/partially unsatisfied as at 31 December 2025 is AED 16.6 billion (2024: AED 9.6 billion). The Group 

estimates to recognise these unsatisfied performance obligations as revenue over a period of up to 1-3 years. 

 

Sale of development properties recognised during the year, as stated above, is significantly recognised from the 

balance of the contract liabilities.  

 

The Group bills and receives payments from customers based on the billing schedule and terms of payment agreed 

with the customers as mentioned in the contracts with the customers. Contract liabilities relates to payments received 

in advance of performance under the contract. 

 

4 COST OF SALES 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Cost of sale from development properties (note below) 6,944,236,394 3,438,605,048 

Cost of sale from food and beverages from restaurants 28,859,873 26,776,707 

Cost of revenue from services 25,342,366 11,603,420 

Cost of goods sold - 2,534,548 

   

 6,998,438,633 3,479,519,723 

   

Cost of sale from development properties includes AED 553.9 million (2024: AED 305.3 million) in relation to the 

sales commission. 

 

5 BUSINESS COMBINATION 

 

In prior year, on 29 February 2024, the Group has acquired 100% of the state-of-the-art factory “Advanced Metal 

Works” for a purchase consideration of AED 12 million. The newly acquired factory will operate in tandem with 

Binghatti’s in-house manufacturing facilities for commercial façade and building steel structure and guided by its 

dedicated team of in-house engineers, interior designers and architects 

 

The fair value of net assets acquired amounted to AED 53.3 million as on the date of acquisition, details of such net 

assets are as follows: 
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 

 

   Fair value  

   on acquisition 

   AED 

Assets 

Property, plant and equipment 52,979,709 

Right-of-use assets 19,826,412 

Cash 204,490 

Trade and other receivables 1,963,588 

Inventories 1,600,872 
 ────────── 

 76,575,071 
 ══════════ 

Liabilities 

Trade payables 2,438,364 

Lease liabilities 19,525,643 

Employees' end of service benefits (note 22) 1,274,895 
 ────────── 

 23,238,902 
 ────────── 

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 53,336,169 
 ────────── 

Purchase consideration transferred  (12,000,000) 
 ────────── 

Gain arising on acquisition 41,336,169 
 ══════════ 

 

Transaction costs of AED 0.6 million have been expensed and are included in selling, general and administrative 

expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and are part of operating cash flows in the consolidated 

statement of cash flows. 

 

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value of the remaining lease payments at the date 

of acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities. 

 
 

6 OTHER INCOME 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Admin and facilitating fees 29,577,564 15,985,953 

Scrap sales 12,623,573 5,547,230 

Sukuk premium income 3,423,682 1,574,143 

Other income (note below) 11,325,361 24,860,259 

   

 56,950,180 47,967,585 

   

 

Other income mainly consists of penalty, no objection certificate and other fees charged to customers.  
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7 FINANCE INCOME 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Profit earned on escrow accounts 74,586,857 46,179,460 

Profit earned on Wakala deposits 36,243,219 16,746,059 

   

 110,830,076 62,925,519 

   

 

 

8 SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Salaries and other benefits 539,293,655 177,059,206 

Selling and marketing expenses 292,542,913 192,578,666 

Government, legal and professional fees 102,794,326 61,226,736 

Royalty expense (note (a)) 68,275,597 42,912,176 

Visa, licensing and insurance expense 61,299,375 48,743,317 

IT related expenses 36,784,777 17,363,056 

Utilities expenses 25,972,604 8,861,562 

Bank charges 15,153,053 7,202,854 

Travelling expense 14,397,062 2,768,587 

Rent expense (note 13) 13,516,082 9,195,173 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 10) 11,815,183 7,811,044 

Depreciation on right of use assets (note 13) 9,651,094 8,181,914 

Board remuneration (note 26) 2,500,000 - 

Others [note (b)] 71,632,641 43,665,154 

   

 1,265,628,362   627,569,445 

   

 

a) The expense pertains to royalty accrued for the branded residential projects. 
 

b) Other includes AED 5 million annual charity contribution in Shaikh Mohamed Bin Rashed (1 billion meals 

project) (2024: AED 5 million). 
 

 

9 FINANCE COSTS 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Sukuk profit expense 275,809,646  122,637,272 

Interest on borrowings 204,856,502  99,791,526 

EIR amortisation on payable to investors (note 24) 35,845,478  152,130,059 

Interest on lease liabilities (note 13) 13,460,570 5,611,321 

   

 529,972,196 380,170,178 
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 Capital 

work-in-

progress 

Land and  

building Furniture 

Fixtures  

fittings and  

equipment 

Crockery 

items Vehicles 

Leasehold 

improvements Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 

Cost:         

At 1 January 2025 99,134,896 220,213,289 5,399,871 256,257,036 1,898,426 39,132,979 13,880,642 635,917,139 

  Addition 214,211,354 3,128,394 934,675 171,676,786 209,288 56,928,106 1,507,495 448,596,098 

  Derecognised on disposal of 

subsidiaries (note 27) (24,483,496) - - - - - - (24,483,496) 

  Transfers to development properties (205,995,692) (127,510,210) - - - - -  (333,505,902) 

  Disposals - - - - - (3,036,564) - (3,036,564) 

   
        

  At 31 December 2025 82,867,062 95,831,473 6,334,546 427,933,822 2,107,714 93,024,521 15,388,137 723,487,275 

   
        

Depreciation:         

  At 1 January 2025 -      12,754,368 3,691,491 109,695,758 1,808,280 20,099,207 12,905,483 160,954,587 

  Charge for the year - 4,340,554 1,313,440 111,310,672 96,044 20,004,308 1,172,443 138,237,461 

  Disposals - - - - - (751,014) - (751,014) 

   
        

  At 31 December 2025 - 17,094,922 5,004,931 221,006,430 1,904,324 39,352,501 14,077,926 298,441,034 

 
        

Net carrying amount:         

  At 31 December 2025 82,867,062 78,736,551 1,329,615 206,927,392 203,390 53,672,020 1,310,211 425,046,241 

 
        

 

a) Depreciation is allocated as below: 

 

  2025 2024 

  AED AED 

 

Cost of sales  126,422,278 61,837,825 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (note 8)   11,815,183 7,811,044 
  ───────── ───────── 

  138,237,461 69,648,869 
  ═════════ ═════════ 
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

 

In prior years, the Group had obtained a loan from a bank of AED 87.5 million to finance the purchase of vacant plots (# 845 & # 827) at Manara Dubai valued at AED 125 million, 

secured by the following: 

 

1) Mortgage over land located on plot # 827 in Al Manara Dubai for AED 105 million (2024: AED 105 million). 

2) Assignment of all contractors all risk Islamic insurance policy (Takaful) in favour of the bank upon the start of construction. 

 

 Capital 

work-in-

progress* 

Land and  

building Furniture 

Fixtures  

fittings and  

equipment 

Crockery 

items Vehicles 

Leasehold 

improvements Total 

 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 

Cost:         

At 1 January 2024 -      206,382,039 4,263,117 103,829,008 1,891,381 24,634,256 12,426,222 353,426,023 

  Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 5) -      13,800,000 146,834 38,741,308 -      291,567 -      52,979,709 

  Additions 99,134,896 31,250 989,920 113,686,720 7,045 14,207,156 1,454,420 229,511,407 

           

  At 31 December 2024 99,134,896 220,213,289 5,399,871 256,257,036 1,898,426 39,132,979 13,880,642 635,917,139 

           

Depreciation:         

  At 1 January 2024 -      8,585,792 2,444,517 55,419,095 1,784,556 11,256,637 11,815,121 91,305,718 

  Charge for the year -      4,168,576 1,246,974 54,276,663 23,724 8,842,570 1,090,362 69,648,869 

           

  At 31 December 2024 -      12,754,368 3,691,491 109,695,758 1,808,280 20,099,207 12,905,483 160,954,587 

         

Net carrying amount:         

  At 31 December 2024 99,134,896 207,458,921 1,708,380 146,561,278 90,146 19,033,772  975,159 474,962,552 
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

Cost:   

As at 1 January 274,899,200 - 

  Additions - 274,899,200  

   

At 31 December 274,899,200 274,899,200  

   

 

a) The Group’s investment property consist of a land parcel located at Palm Jumeirah, Dubai, UAE. In prior year, 

the land parcel was purchased on a deferred installment basis with the last installment paid during the year. The 

sale purchase agreement was executed in the name of the Shareholder and the Shareholder has transferred all 

right beneficially through a deed of trust executed between the Group and the Shareholder. 
 

b) The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment property and no contractual obligations to 

purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance or enhancements. 
 

c) At 31 December 2025, the fair value of the completed investment properties and related land was AED 366 

million (2024: AED 275 million) on the basis of a valuation using sales comparable method carried out by an 

independent external valuation expert. The investment properties is classified as Level 3. The change of 1% in 

the per sqft estimated market value impact the valuation by AED 3.7 million (2024: AED 2.8 million).  

 

 

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Intangible assets represent trademark registration and vehicles license plates acquired through auction. 

 

 Trademarks License plates Total 

 AED AED AED 

Cost:    

  At 1 January 2024   2,357,180 -      2,357,180 

  Additions - 16,945,541 16,945,541 

    

  At 31 December 2024  2,357,180 16,945,541 19,302,721 

  Additions 649,085 37,692,120 38,341,205 

  Disposals  (995,460) - (995,460) 

    

  At 31 December 2025  2,010,805 54,637,661 56,648,466 

    

Accumulated amortisation:    

  At 1 January 2024  1,138,502 -      1,138,502 

  Amortisation 421,588 -      421,588 

    

  At 31 December 2024 1,560,090 -      1,560,090 

  Amortisation 133,555 - 133,555 

  Disposals                        (618,018) - (618,018) 

    

  At 31 December 2025  1,075,627 - 1,075,627 

    

Net carrying value:    

  At 31 December 2025 935,178 54,637,661 55,572,839 

    

  At 31 December 2024   797,090 16,945,541 17,742,631 

    

 

a) Finite life, intangible assets are amortised on a straight line over a period of 10 years. 
 

b)  License plates have have indefinite useful life. As at 31 December 2025, these assets were tested for impairment 

based on their fair value less cost to sale and management concluded that there was no impairment identified. 

The fair value was determined with reference to the recent market transactions.  
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13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 

 

Right of use assets 

 

 Factory 

building and 

lands 

Restaurants/ 

Cafes Total 

 AED AED AED 
    

At 1 January 2025   82,717,995 3,607,094 86,325,089 

Modification 6,622,201 6,621,464 13,243,665 

Additions 246,026,147 4,009,157 250,035,304 

Derecognized on disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) (50,322,943) - (50,322,943) 

Depreciation (77,015,357) (5,128,518) (82,143,875) 

    

At 31 December 2025 208,028,043 9,109,197 217,137,240 

    

 

 Factory 

building and 

lands 

Restaurants/ 

Cafes Total 

 AED AED AED 
    

At 1 January 2024   44,449,117 3,867,555 48,316,672 

Modification - 4,508,925 4,508,925 

Additions 62,734,570 - 62,734,570 

Depreciation (24,465,692) (4,769,386) (29,235,078) 

    

At 31 December 2024  82,717,995 3,607,094 86,325,089 

    

 

Lease liabilities 

 

 Factory 

building and 

lands 

Restaurants/ 

Cafes Total 

 AED AED AED 
    

At 1 January 2025 83,572,088 3,380,409 86,952,497 

Modification 6,622,201 6,621,464 13,243,665 

Additions 246,026,147 4,009,157 250,035,304 

Derecognized on disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) (49,900,357) - (49,900,357) 

Accretion of interest 12,802,950 657,620 13,460,570 

Payments (108,239,661) (5,768,827) (114,008,488) 

    

At 31 December 2025 190,883,368 8,899,823 199,783,191 

    

 

 Factory 

building and 

lands 

Restaurants/ 

Cafes Total 

 AED AED AED 
    

At 1 January 2024   46,537,012 3,478,433 50,015,445 

Modification -      4,508,925 4,508,925 

Additions 62,734,570 -      62,734,570 

Accretion of interest  5,184,774  426,547 5,611,321 

Payments (30,884,268) (5,033,496) (35,917,764) 

    

At 31 December 2024 83,572,088  3,380,409 86,952,497 
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13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

Set out below is classification of lease liabilities: 

 

 Factory 

building and 

lands 

Restaurants/ 

Cafes Total 

 AED AED AED 

2025      

Non-current 94,620,908 4,553,686 99,174,594 

Current 96,262,460 4,346,137 100,608,597 

    

 190,883,368 8,899,823 199,783,191 

    

 

 Factory 

building and 

lands 

Restaurants/ 

Cafes Total 

 AED AED AED 

2024      

Non-current 51,406,155 941,363  52,347,518 

Current 32,165,933 2,439,046 34,604,979 

    

 83,572,088 3,380,409  86,952,497 

    

 

The following are the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss: 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets [note (c)] 82,143,875 29,235,078 

Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 9) 13,460,570 5,611,321 

Expenses relating to short term leases and variable lease payments 

 [note (b)] 32,683,042 23,076,813 

   

 128,287,487  57,923,212 

   

 

b) Expenses relating to short term leases and variable lease payment are included in consolidated statement of 

profit and loss as follows: 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Cost of sales 19,166,960 13,881,640 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (note 8) 13,516,082 9,195,173 

   

 32,683,042   23,076,813 

   

 

c) Depreciation expense of right-of-use-assets are included in consolidated statement of profit and loss as follows: 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Cost of sales 72,492,781 21,053,164 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (note 8) 9,651,094 8,181,914 

   

 82,143,875   29,235,078 
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14 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 

 

Financial investments at FVTPL 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

    

Opening balance - -  

Additions (i) 1,736,705,383 -  

Fair value gain on financial investments 46,946,344 - 

   

Closing balance 1,783,651,727 - 

   

 

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2025, the Group invested in unquoted real estate funds as below: 

  

•   Investment in shariah complaint fund with the objective of investing in real estate development project. The 

total size of the fund is USD 28.56 million. 

•   Investment shariah complaint fund with the objective of investing in Shariah compliant real estate opportunities. 

The total size of the fund is USD 500 million. 

 

As at the reporting date, the change in fair value of Group’s financial investments carried at fair value through profit 

or loss is AED 46,946,344. The financial investments carried out at fair value through profit or loss is classified as 

Level 3. 

 

Financial investments at FVTPL are recognised  at fair value and categorised within the level of the fair value 

hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to fair value measurement in their entirety. The different 

levels have been defined as follows:  

 

•   Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 

•   Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and 

•   Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 

3). 

 

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or 

change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 

 

 

15 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES 

 

Movement in development properties is as follows: 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Balance at the beginning 5,383,598,791 1,502,864,753 

Add: costs incurred during the year 8,132,391,306 6,919,352,069 

(Less): costs transferred to cost of sales during the year (6,476,028,794) (3,038,618,031) 

   

Balance at the end of the year 7,039,961,303 5,383,598,791 

   

a) Development properties include land parcels for future development projects amounting to AED 2.5 billion 

(2024: AED 2.2 billion). These land parcels are carried at cost.  
 

b) Certain land parcels are mortgaged against loans taken amounting to AED 2.3 billion (31 December 2024: 

AED 1.4 billion) (note 23).  
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15 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 

 

c) During the year, the Group entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) dated 25 May 2025 with a 

third party for the purchase of certain land parcels (the “Parcel”) amounting to AED 2.82 billion. As of the 

reporting date, the Group has remaining commitment of AED 2.02 billion relating to this SPA and will be 

recorded as and each parcel is legally transferred to the Group. 
 

 

16 INVENTORIES 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Raw materials  99,786,621 40,421,206 

Supplies 817,421 757,031 

Finished goods 21,135,981 84,681 

Consumables 35,483 19,759 

   

  121,775,506 41,282,677  

   

 

During the year inventory amounting to AED 395.2 million (2024: AED 160.2 million) has been charged to cost of 

sales on account of materials used for the manufacture of aluminum, glass works and steel facade. 

 

 

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Trade receivables 2,747,775,509 1,765,195,724 

Advances to suppliers 581,384,861 267,843,314 

Deferred sales commission [note (c)] 786,647,416 243,593,939 

Contract assets 582,550,240 239,509,766 

VAT receivables 132,212,799 64,065,618 

Prepaid expenses 88,151,733 31,138,274 

Refundable deposits 65,442,385 30,675,815 

Other receivables 23,762,901 13,842,234 

   

  5,007,927,844 2,655,864,684 

   

 

a) The Group has not recognised any expected credit losses on trade receivables in 2025 and 2024. This is because 

the Group receives advance payments in the form of post-dated cheques on all projects and title deeds to the 

properties are not released until the full amount has been recovered.  
 

b) Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. 
 

c) This represents sales commission paid to sales agents and staff, which will be recognised “in cost of sales" over 

the period of time when benefits relating to the transactions will flow to the Group in proportion to the recognition 

of the revenue. No impairment was considered necessary as the remaining amount of consideration exceeded to 

a significant extent the remaining budgeted costs and the carrying amount of the deferred sales commission. 
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18 WAKALA DEPOSITS 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Wakala deposits 170,000,000 201,173,262  

(Less): Wakala deposits – original maturity less than 3 months (170,000,000) (197,790,615) 

   

 - 3,382,647 

   

 

Wakala deposits were placed with a financial institution in the UAE with an original maturity period between 1 week 

- 12 months and bearing interest at commercial rates. During the year ended 31 December 2025, the Group has earned 

an interest income amounting to AED 36.2 million from Wakala deposits (2024: AED 16.7 million) (note 7). 

 

 

19 BANK BALANCES AND CASH 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Cash in banks 423,987,616 71,255,747 

Escrow account (note below) 8,245,849,818 3,496,337,421 

Wakala deposits 170,000,000 197,790,615 

Cash on hand 2,981,436 385,145 

   

 8,842,818,870 3,765,768,928 

(Less): Balance held in escrow account (note below) (5,484,586,890) (2,226,915,699) 

   

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose   

  of consolidated financial statement of cash flows 3,358,231,980 1,538,853,229 

   

 

Derecognized on disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) 4,193,822 - 

   

 

Balance held in escrow account represents advance collections from customers that are held with banks authorised 

by the Real Estate Regulatory Authority (“RERA”), Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The use of this balance is subject 

to the development progress of the specific projects by the Group to which such amounts relate. The advance 

collection relates to projects completed less than 30% has been considered as restricted cash for the purposes of cash 

and cash equivalents in cashflows statement. The balances in the escrow account are deposits in the saving account 

and earns profit in the range of 2% to 2.5% (2024: 2% to 2.5%).
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20 SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

Authorised capital:    

  Authorised share capital (36.7 billion share of AED 0.01 each) 367,250,000 367,250,000 

   

   

Issued and fully paid:    

  AED 150 million represented by 15 billion shares of AED 0.01 each 150,000,000 3,675,000 

   

 

During the current year, the Company increased its issued and fully paid share capital from AED 3,675,000 to AED 

150,000,000 through a shareholder resolution 28 October 2025. This was settled through adjusting the Group’s 

retained earnings. 
 

 

21 STATUTORY RESERVE  
 

This represents the legal reserve held as per U.A.E legislation in Granada Europe Eng. Const. LLC comprising 

AED 10 million (2024: AED 10 million) and Masaken Luxury Services LLC AED 0.01 million (2024: AED 0.01 

million). 
 

 

22 EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Provision as at 1 January 27,333,254 12,972,195 

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 5) - 1,274,895 

Provision during the year 49,220,421 15,287,396 

Derecognized on disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) (22,404) - 

End of service benefits paid  (6,706,335) (2,201,232) 

   

Provision as at 31 December 69,824,936 27,333,254 

   

 

23 LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Letter of credit Murabaha (23.1) 175,478,706 67,207,864 

Vehicle loans (23.2) 5,992,181 8,917,747 

Mortgage loan (23.3) 2,639,688,395 1,406,073,959 

Sukuk payable (23.4) 5,437,178,506 1,819,014,590 

Loan from others (23.5) - 48,700,000 

   

 8,258,337,788 3,349,914,160 

Less: due within one year (549,041,390) (992,426,963) 

   

Due after one year 7,709,296,398 2,357,487,197 

   

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 
   

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,349,914,160 1,065,721,205 

Add: Borrowings drawdown during the year 6,709,627,548 2,853,306,548 

Less: Borrowings repaid during the year (1,801,203,920)  (569,113,593) 

   

Balance at the end of the year 8,258,337,788 3,349,914,160 
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23 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 

 

23.1 Letter of credit Murabaha 

 

a)  The facility Letter of credit Murabaha is secured by the following: 

 

1) Undertaking to deposit rental income of one plot owned by the Shareholder with the bank and undertaking 

not to release this plot registered in the name of the bank, until the full and final settlement of all the 

liabilities. 
 

2) Debit authority letter from the shareholder to recover any shortfall in instalment amounts from his personal 

account with the bank. 
 

3) Personal guarantee from the shareholder. 
 

4) Mortgage over light vehicles for AED 8.9 million (2024: AED 8.9 million). 

 

b)  At 31 December 2025, the facility is repayable through payments within six months from drawdown and 

carries minimum interest at 2.5% or EIBOR plus 2.25% to 3% per annum (2024: minimum 2.5% or EIBOR 

plus 2.25% to 3% per annum). 

 

23.2 Vehicle loans 

 

Vehicle loans were used to acquire vehicles and are subject to effective interest rate of 4% per annum payable in 60 

monthly instalments. These are secured by mortgage of vehicles. 

 

23.3 Mortgage loan 

 

a)  The borrowing obtained in the prior years amounting to AED 714 million is carry forwarded in the current 

year. The outstanding loan amount are mortgage over land located on plot # 83 (Municipality no. 346-6814), 

plot # 319 (Municipality no. 345-387), located in Downtown and Business Bay Community and plot no (# 845 

& # 827) at Manara Dubai located. During the year ended 31 December 2025, the Group has added AED 250 

million in borrowings. 

 

b) During the year ended, the Group has repaid AED 449.09 million (2024: nil)  

 

c)  In prior year, the Group obtained a loan from a bank of AED 147 million to finance the purchase of vacant 

plots (14 & 15) at Science Park. During the year ended 31 December 2025, the Group has fully repaid the loan. 

 

d)  In prior year, the Group obtained a loan from a bank of AED 179 million to finance the purchase of vacant 

plots (1603 & 19) at Al Khawaneej First and Nad Al Shiba First respectively, secured by the following:  

1)  Mortgage over land located on plot 1603 & 19 in Al Khawaneej First and Nad Al Shiba First 

respectively, Dubai. 

2)  Corporate guarantee from M/S Binghatti Holding Limited. 

3)  The facility is repayable through monthly/quarterly payments from the date of loan and carries interest 

at 3 Months EIBOR plus 2.75% payable quarterly. The group has repaid this loan as at 31 December 

2025. 

 

e)  In prior year, the Group has obtained a loan from a bank of AED 390 million out of which it repaid AED 365 

million in the current year (2024: AED 25 million) to finance the purchase of vacant plot no. (# 14 & # 15) 

located at Dubai science park (Municipality no. 672-3163) and plot no. (# 346-417, 346-418 & # 2797- PJTR 

18A&B) located at Business Bay and Palm Jumeirah. During the year ended 31 December 2025, the group has 

added AED 1,400 million, secured by the following: 

 

1)  Mortgage over land located on plot no. (# 14 & # 15) located at Dubai science park (Municipality no. 

672-3163), plot no. (#356), plot no. (# 346-417, 346-418 & # PJTR 18A&B) located at Business Bay 

and Palm Jumeirah, plot no. (#1082, #1083, #1086) located at Nad Al Shiba first. 

 

2)  The facility was repayable through quarterly payments from the date of loan and carries interest at 3 

Months EIBOR plus 2.5% payable quarterly. The final instalment is due on December 2027. 
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23 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 

 

23.3  Mortgage loan (continued) 

 

f) During the year ended 31 December 2025, the Group has obtained a DMCC facility of AED 450 million, fully 

utilized, to facilitate procurement for trading/manufacturing purpose and one-off Dubai Multi Commodities 

Centre Murabaha (DMCCM) to cover the initial project lunch cost for various projects, secured by the 

following: 

1)  Personal Guarantee of Mr. Hussain Ghati Ghaib Aljbori. 

2)  Corporate guarantee from M/S Binghatti Developers FZE. 

3)  Undertaking not to realise the mortgage of plot no 202(618-9884) located at Nad al Sheiba first, Dubai 

in favour of the bank against the corporate accounts. 

4)  The facility is repayable through bullet payment on maturity due as on April 2027 carries interest at 3 

Months EIBOR plus 2.75% payable quarterly. 

 

g) During the year ended 31 December 2025, the Group has obtained a loan from a bank of AED 250 million out 

of which it repaid AED 145 million secured by mortgage over land plot no. (# 17) located at Dubai, Al Hebiah 

4 (Municipality no. 682-136), vacant plot no. (# 338) located at Dubai, Al Barshaa south 2, plot no. (# 862) 

located at Dubai, Al Jadaff (Municipality no. 326-1507), and plot no. (# 2684) located at Me’ Aisem First 

(Municipality no. 685-4339). 

 

The facility was repayable through scheduled payments from the date of loan and carries interest at 3 Months 

EIBOR plus 3.4% payable quarterly. The final instalment is due on August 2026. 

 

f) The Group is required under the above facilities to comply with the following covenants: 
 

i)    To maintain Net indebtedness to Equity of 1.25:1 at all times; 

ii)   To maintain consolidated EBITDA to consolidated net interest expense of no less than 2:1; 

iii)  To keep Net indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA not to exceed 2.5:1 

iv) Total assets are always greater than 150% of Net indebtedness 

v) Debt servicing ratio should be maintained above 1.2x at all times. 

vi) No Dividend Payment 

vii)   Maintain proper rating with at least one rating agency 

viii)   Liquidity coverage ratio greater than 0.5:1 post FY 2026 

ix)   LTV ratio for mortgage property to be at least 60%; and 

x)  Total equity is not less than AED 1,000,000,000. 

 

The covenants are complied at 31 December 2025. The Group has no indication that it will have difficulty complying 

with these covenants on future periods. 

 

23.4 Sukuk payable 

 

On 2 October 2025, the Group issued Green Sukuk certificates amounting to USD 500 million (AED 1.8 billion) 

maturing on 2 July 2029. The Sukuk is listed on NASDAQ Dubai and London Stock Exchange and is due for 

repayment on 2 July 2029. Sukuk carries a profit distribution at the rate of 7.75% per annum to be paid semi-annually. 

The fair value of the Green Sukuk certificates as of 31 December 2025 is AED 1,844 million.  

 

On 6 August 2025, the Group issued Sukuk certificates amounting to USD 500 million (AED 1.8 billion). The Sukuk 

is listed on NASDAQ Dubai and London Stock Exchange and is due for repayment in 2030. Sukuk carries a profit 

distribution at the rate of 8.125% per annum to be paid semi-annually. The fair value of the Sukuk certificates as of 

31 December 2025 is AED 1,805 million.  

 

On 29 February 2024, the Group issued Sukuk certificates amounting to USD 300 million (AED 1,102 million) and 

did a further issuance on 16 July 2024 of USD 200 million (AED 735 million). The Sukuk is listed on NASDAQ 

Dubai and London Stock Exchange and is due for repayment in 2027. Sukuk carries a profit distribution at the rate 

of 9.625% per annum to be paid semi-annually. The fair value of the Sukuk certificates as of 31 December 2025 is 

AED 1,873 million. 
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23 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 

 

23.4 Sukuk payable (continued) 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,819,014,590 - 

Add: Borrowings drawdown during the year  3,605,112,601 1,812,737,005 

Add: Sukuk cost amortisation during the year  16,474,997 7,851,728 

Less: Sukuk premium amortisation during the year  (3,423,682) (1,574,143) 

   

Balance at the end of the year 5,437,178,506  1,819,014,590 

   

 

23.5 Loan from others 

 

A loan amounting to AED 48.7 million from Dr. Othman Abdullah O Alswayeh was repaid in full during the current 

year. The loan was unsecured and callable by the lender with an original repayment date of no later than 31 January  

2026. 

 

 

24 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS 

  

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Trade payables  1,212,767,013 1,345,966,646 

Payable to investors [note (a)] 546,503,649 664,051,601 

Payable for unit registration 94,294,946 163,792,419 

VAT payable 5,443,620 58,088 

Accrued expenses and other payables 604,856,231 1,079,283,808 

   

 2,463,865,459 3,253,152,562 

(Less): non-current portion (72,889,371) (634,296,940) 

   

 2,390,976,088 2,618,855,622 

   

 

Derecognized on disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) 993,694 - 

   

 

a) Movement of payable to investors balance is as below: 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Opening as at 1 January 664,051,601 109,712,037 

Received during the year 149,015,074 402,209,505 

EIR amortisation on payable to investors  35,845,478 152,130,059 

Payments (182,408,504) - 

Transfer to contract liabilities (120,000,000) - 

   

Closing as at 31 December 546,503,649 664,051,601 

   

 

b) Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:  

▪ Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled by the Group on with 60 to 90 days 

(2024: 60 to 90 days). 

▪ Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months (2024: six months).  

▪ Interest payable is normally settled quarterly throughout the financial year. 
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25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES  

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Deferred liabilities 6,270,721,309 2,590,740,153 

   

  6,270,721,309 2,590,740,153 

   

 

 

26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Related parties represent the shareholder, directors and key management personnel of the Group, affiliated companies 

where the shareholders of the Group have ownership interests, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or 

significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s 

management. 

 

Nature of significant related party transactions and amounts involved are as follows: 

  

2025 

AED 

 

2024 

AED 

   

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) 2,450 - 

Sale of land to shareholder (note 11) 545,200,000 - 

Payment to shareholder - net 3,465,159 - 

Payment by shareholder - net - 35,040,605 

Advances from key management personnel 4,266,732 - 

   

 

a) Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position and in the notes are 

as follows: 

 

Due from related parties: 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Due from a shareholder (b) 513,624,554 - 

Due from entities under common control 85,249,761 - 

   

 598,874,315  -  

   

 

b) Movement in shareholder’s balance: 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Receivable / (payable) balance as at 1 January (35,040,605) -      

Sale of land to shareholder 545,200,000 - 

Movement during the year – net  3,465,159 (35,040,605) 

   

Receivable balance as at 31 December 513,624,554 (35,040,605) 

   

 

Due from related parties is unsecured and receivable on demand.  
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 

Due to related parties 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Shareholder account - 35,040,605 

Advances from key management personnel 4,266,732 - 

   

 4,266,732 35,040,605 

   

 

Sale of property units includes the sale to key management personnel amounting to AED 1.6 million (2024: AED 

1.4). These sale transactions were carried out at market comparable terms. 

 

Compensation of key management personnel 
 

c) The key management personnel, represented by the shareholder, chairman, vice- chairman, chief executive 

officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, chief legal officer, chief sales officer, chief procurement 

officer, chief risk and compliance officer and Director. The amounts expensed to the consolidated statement 

of profit and loss for the year ended 31 December is as follows: 
 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 
   

Short-term employee benefits 39,036,077 28,262,578 

End of service benefits and leave encashment 653,145 370,031 

   

Transaction during the year 39,689,222 28,632,609 

   

 

d)    The Board of Directors remuneration incurred for the year ended 31 December 2025 is AED 2.5 million (2024: 

AED 0.6 million).  

 

27 Disposal of subsidiaries 
    

In the current year, the Group sold its interest in 4 wholly owned subsidiaries to a company that is under the same 

shareholder in a common control transaction as part of the Group reorganisation at paid up share capital and recorded 

a gain of AED 26 million which was recognised directly in equity. The assets and liabilities of the disposed 

subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as follows:    
 

  2025 

  AED 
   

Property, plant and equipment  24,483,496 

Right-of-use assets  50,322,943 

Trade and other receivables  12,976,479 

Due from related parties  749,416 

Bank balances and cash  4,193,822 

Employees’ end of service benefits  (22,404) 

Lease liabilities  (49,900,357) 

Accounts payable and accruals  (993,694) 

Due to related parties  (68,174,431) 

   

Net liabilities disposed of  (26,364,730) 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  372,861 

   

  (25,991,869) 

   

Total consideration  2,450 

   

Gain on Disposal of Subsidiaries  25,994,319 
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27     Disposal of subsidiaries (continued) 

   

  2025 

  AED 

Net cashflows arising on disposal:   

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of  (4,193,822)  

   

 

The consideration for disposal of below subsidiaries was satisfied through due from a related parties:  

- Binghatti Properties Investments 1 (UK) Limited 

- Binghatti Real Estate Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd 

- Advanced Building Information Management Services 

- Mohamed Hassin Ghati Al-Jabouri Real Estate Development 

 

 

28 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

As at 31 December 2025, the Group has capital commitments for the projects under construction amounting AED 5.9 

billion (2024: AED 4.2 billion) to complete the construction of the work in progress under development. In addition, 

the Group has outstanding commitments amounting to AED 2.2 billion relating to payments for plots. 

 

As at 31 December 2025, there are unconfirmed letter of credit amounting to AED 37.8 million (2024: AED 61.2 

million). Further, there is an ongoing annual commitment of AED 5 million annual charity contribution in Shaikh 

Mohamed Bin Rashed 1 billion meal project. 

 

 

29 RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 

currency risk. The Group’s management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are 

summarised below. 

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in the market value rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its floating interest-bearing liabilities 

(loans and borrowings). 

 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on loan and 

borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit is affected through the impact on floating rate 

borrowings, as follows: 

 

  Effect on profit 

  for one year  

  Increase / (decrease) increase / 

 in interest rate  (decrease)  

    AED 

 

2025 1% 28,151,671 

 (1%)  (28,151,671) 

 

2024 1% 14,821,996 

 (1%) (14,821,996) 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 

party to incur a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk on its bank balances, advance paid on behalf of a 

related party and certain other assets as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to banks by only dealing with reputable banks and with respect 

to related parties by regularly assessing the related parties credit worthiness and making provisions if required. 
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29 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

 

Credit risk is limited to the carrying values of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as summarised below: 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Bank balance 8,839,837,434  3,765,383,783 

Trade receivables 2,747,775,509 1,765,195,724 

Contract assets 582,550,240 239,509,766 

Refundable deposits 65,442,385 30,675,815 

Due from related parties 598,874,315 - 

Other receivables 23,762,901 13,842,234 

   

 12,858,242,784 5,814,607,322 

   

 

Bank balances 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which include bank balances, the 

Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 

amount of these instruments.  

 

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by 

international credit-rating agencies. Given this, management does not expect these banks to fail on their obligations 

to the Group.  

 

As at 31 December, the ageing of unimpaired trade receivable is as follows: 

 

  Neither Past due but not impaired 

  past due ────────────────────────────── 

  nor 31-60 61-90 Above 90 

 Total impaired days days days 

 AED AED AED AED AED 

 

2025 2,747,775,509 1,176,355,947 482,367,995 241,919,099 847,132,468 

 

2024 1,765,195,724 537,196,317 171,626,129 250,952,712 805,420,566 

 

There were no expected credit losses recognised in 2025 and 2024. 

 

Trade receivables and contract assets  

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit 

losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss 

patterns (i.e., by geographical region, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of 

credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable 

and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts 

of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are 

not subject to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value 

of each class of financial assets. Since the Group usually receives cash in advance or can withhold transfer of property, 

Management view credit risk as low and no material provision is required 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group limits is liquidity risk by retaining sufficient funds generated from operations and ensuring funds from the 

shareholder are available. 

 

The table below summarises the maturities of the Group’s undiscounted financial liabilities at 31 December, based 

on contractual payment dates and current market interest rates.  
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29 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

2025 

 Less than 3 to 12 1 to 10 

 3 months months years Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

 

Loans and borrowings 175,960,024 373,081,366 7,709,296,398 8,258,337,788 

Lease liabilities 17,162,869 98,775,143 132,431,622 248,369,634 

Accrued expenses and other payables 604,856,231 - - 604,856,231 

Accounts payables 803,806,061 336,071,581 72,889,371 1,212,767,013 

Payable for unit registration 94,294,946 - - 94,294,946 

Due to related parties 4,266,732 - - 4,266,732 
 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

 1,700,346,863 807,928,090 7,914,617,391 10,422,892,344 
 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

2024  

 Less than 3 to 12 1 to 10 

 3 months months years Total 

 AED AED AED AED 

 

Loans and borrowings 378,509,484 61,3917,479 2,357,487,197 3,349,914,160 

Lease liabilities 12,105,443 29,830,534 79,784,254 121,720,231 

Accrued expenses and other payables 998,811,805 80,472,002 -      1,079,283,807 

Accounts payables 719,697,741 656,023,566 1,053,296,940     2,429,018,247 

Payable for unit registration 163,792,419 -      -      163,792,419 

Due to a related party 35,040,605 -      -      35,040,605 
 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

 2,307,957,497 1,380,243,581 3,490,568,391 7,178,769,469 
 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 

in foreign exchange rates. The functional and presentation currency of the Company is AED. 

 

The Group is not exposed to any significant currency risk as most of its transactions and balances are denominated in 

either US Dollars or AED, which is pegged to the US Dollars. As at the reporting date, there were no significant 

foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities. 

 

Capital management 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order 

to support its business. 

 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions and 

liquidity. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2025 

31 December 2024. Capital comprises share capital and retained earnings and is measured at AED 6.8 billion as at  

31 December 2025 (2024: AED 3.2 billion). 

 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise the shareholder value.   

 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 

requirements of the financial covenants. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is ‘net debt’ divided 

by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 60%. The Group includes within 

net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, less cash and cash equivalents. 
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29 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Capital management (continued) 

 

The gearing ratio at the yearend was as follows: 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

   

Loans and borrowings (note 23) 8,258,337,788 3,349,914,160 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 19) (3,358,231,980) (1,538,853,229) 

   

Net debt 4,900,105,808 1,811,060,931 

   

Total equity 6,779,528,987 3,178,588,349 

   

Net debt to equity ratio (times) 0.72 0.57 

   

 

30 FAIR VALUES  

 

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

Financial assets consist of bank balances, financial invesstment and cash, trade and other receivables and wakala 

deposits. Financial liabilities consist of accounts payable, accruals, loans and borrowings, lease liabilities and due to 

related parties, except for the listed sukuk certificates and Financial investment are not materially different from their 

carrying amounts. The fair values of the sukuk certificates are AED 5.52 billion (2024: AED 1.9 billion). The fair 

value for sukuk certificates is benchmarked against the quoted market price (Level 1). 

 

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from their carrying values. 

 

The Group has no financial instruments carried at fair value expect financial investment at fair value through profit 

and loss 

 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value by valuation technique: 

 

Level 1:  quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3:  techniques that use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 

observable market data. 
 

 

31 TAXATION 

 

31.1 Corporate tax 

 

With the introduction of corporate tax in the United Arab Emirates, the Group is subject to corporate income tax at 

9% on the taxable profits. The major components of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss are: 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

Current income tax   

Opening provisions 182,105,619 -  

Additions 271,054,497 182,105,619 

Payments (131,823,433) - 

   

Closing 321,336,683 182,105,619 
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31 TAXATION (continued) 

 

31.1 Corporate tax (continued) 

 

   2025 2024 

   AED AED 

Current income tax:     

Income tax expense   321,336,683 182,105,619 

Adjustments in respect of prior year    (50,282,186) - 
     

   271,054,497 182,105,619 

     

 

During the year, the Group revised its estimate of income tax provision relating to the prior year, following 

clarifications issued by the UAE Federal Tax Authority regarding the application of the valuation method under the 

transitional rules prescribed in Ministerial Decision No. 120 of 2023 on the disposal of qualifying immovable property 

by real estate developers. The clarification resulted in a reduction in the income tax expense previously recognised 

for the prior year. This revision represents a change in accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 – Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and has been applied prospectively, with no impact on the 

comparatives. 

 

Following is the reconciliation of current income tax expense and accounting profit: 

 

 2025 2024 

 AED AED 

    

Accounting profit for the period before tax 3,846,041,110 2,010,131,577 

   

At the UAE statutory tax rate of 9% charged during the year 346,143,700 180,911,842 

   

Adjustments in respect of standard deduction as per the Law* (33,750) (67,500) 

Non-deductible expense for tax purpose:   

  Entertainment expense (50% allowed as per the Law) 1,282,532 6,282 

  Fines and penalties (disallowed as per the Law) 28,339 7,718 

  Capital nature expense (disallowed as per the Law)  542,852 

 Adjustment for transitional rules prescribed in Ministerial Decision  

  No. 120 

(21,706,276) - 

  Other adjustments (4,340,679) 704,425 

   

At the effective current income tax rate of 8.35% (2024: 9.06%) 321,336,683 182,105,619 

   

 

*As per the UAE CT law, maximum standard deduction applicable for each tax group is AED 375,000. The standard 

deduction applicable to the Group amounts to AED 375,000 on which tax rate at 9% amounts to AED 33,750.  

 

a)  For the purpose of determining income tax expense for the year, the accounting profit has been adjusted for 

tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes include items relating to both income and expense. The adjustments 

are based on the current understanding of the existing tax laws, regulations and practices. The Group has not 

identified any material risks or uncertainties in the structure from a corporate tax perspective and will 

continuously monitor further developments that could impact the tax profile of the Group. 

 

b) Based on an assessment conducted by the Group’s management, no temporary differences were identified 

where the deferred tax should have been accounted for. 
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31 TAXATION (continued) 

 

31.2 Global Minimum Tax (BEPS 2.0) 

 

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion 

and Profit Shifting (BEPS) introduced the Pillar Two Global Anti-Base Erosion (GloBE) Rules to ensure that large 

multinational enterprise (MNE) groups are subject to a minimum effective tax rate of 15% in every jurisdiction in 

which they operate. These rules apply to MNE groups with annual consolidated revenues exceeding EUR 750 million 

(approximately AED 3 billion) in at least two of the four preceding fiscal years. 

 

To align with the OECD framework, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) issued Federal Decree-Law No. 60 of 2023, 

amending Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on 24 November 2023. On 9 December 2024, the UAE Ministry of 

Finance (MoF) announced its intention to introduce a Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax (DMTT) effective 1 January 

2025, to ensure that in-scope MNE groups pay an effective minimum tax of 15%. However, the implementing 

legislation, including Cabinet and Ministerial Decisions, is still awaited as of 31 December 2025. 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2025, Binghatti Group earned revenue of AED 12.4 billion and a net profit before 

tax of AED 3.8 billion, reflecting continued significant growth. The Group’s annual global consolidated revenue 

exceeded €750 million (equivalent to approximately AED 3 billion under Pillar Two scoping rules). During the year 

ended 31 December 2025 the Group disposed its operations in certain subsidiaries (refer note 27) and as at 31 

December 2025 had operational presence across UAE only. 

 

Accordingly, based on transitional provisions the Group does not fall within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two rules 

starting from fiscal year 2025, and will not be subject to a top-up corporate tax of 6% in the UAE to align with the 

15% global minimum rate. 

 

Under current rules, the Group qualifies for the transitional Country-by-Country Reporting (CbCR) jurisdictional 

exclusion, which provides temporary relief from top-up tax until FY 2030 for MNE groups operating in six or fewer 

jurisdictions. Based on the Group’s current footprint, it continues to be eligible for this relief. 

 

As of 31 December 2025, no Pillar Two top-up tax has been recognised, and the Group continues to monitor the 

evolving legislative landscape across its jurisdictions of operation. 

 

In line with the amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) in May 2023, the Group has applied the mandatory temporary exception and has not recognised or disclosed 

any deferred tax assets or liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes in these interim consolidated financial 

statements.  
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32 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

An operating segment is a significant distinguishable component of the Group’s business activities, which is subject 

to risks and rewards different from those of other segments. The financial information of Group’s operating segments 

is regularly monitored and evaluated by the Group’s Chief operating decision maker which is the board of directors. 

For such monitoring and evaluation purposes, the Group is organised into major reportable operating segments being: 

 

a) Property development business; and  

b)  Other operations.  

 

The first segment operations represents the business segment responsible for development of residential buildings in 

UAE while the second segment represents all other miscellaneous activities of the Group such as hospitality. 

 

The first segment “Property development business” represents almost the entire operations of the Group and the 

segment “Other operations” is below the reporting threshold prescribed by IFRS and therefore no segment related 

information has been disclosed in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

The Group operates mainly in one geographic area, UAE. The volume of Group’s operations and assets based outside 

of UAE does not meet the reporting threshold prescribed by IFRS Accounting Standards and thus such information 

is not disclosed in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

33 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

 

Certain corresponding figures for previous year have been reclassified in order to conform to the presentation for the 

current period. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported profit or shareholder’s equity. 


